
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT       

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

-------------------------------------------------------X 

 

LEXUS MUHAMMAD,    Case No.:  1:16-cv-08993 

  

    Plaintiff,   

       COMPLAINT  

  -against-                                               

          

NATIONAL DEBT RELIEF, LLC, 

OLIVE ISIDORE, individually and in her 

official capacity, JOANNE MURRY,  

individually and in her official capacity,  Trial By Jury Demanded 

JOHN AND JANE DOES 1-10,  

individually and in their official capacities, 

and XYZ CORP 1-10,  

 

    Defendants.   

 

--------------------------------------------------------X 

 

Plaintiff Lexus Muhammad (“Plaintiff” and/or “Muhammad”), by her attorney, The Law 

Office of Rudy A. Dermesropian, LLC, complaining of defendants, the National Debt Relief, LLC 

(“NDR”), Olive Isidore, individually and in her official capacity (“Isidore”), Joanne Murry, 

individually and in her official capacity (“Murry”), John and Jane Does 1-10, individually and in 

their official capacities, and XYZ Corp. 1-10 (collectively referred to as “Defendants”), alleges as 

follows: 

1. This action is brought to remedy (i) Defendants’ unlawful discrimination, harassment 

and disparate treatment based on Plaintiff’s pregnancy and disability, (ii) Defendants’ failure to 

provide a reasonable accommodation to Plaintiff, and (iii) retaliation for complaining about the 

discriminatory actions and disparate treatment she was subjected to, all in violation of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (“ADA”), Title VII of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§2000e et seq. (“Title VII”), the Pregnancy 
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Discrimination Act, 42 U.S.C. §2000e(k) (“PDA”), the Executive Law of the State of New York, 

New York State Human Rights Law (“Executive Law” or “NYSHRL”), § 296, et seq., and the 

Administrative Code of the City of New York, New York City Human Rights Law 

(“Administrative Code”), § 8-101, et seq. 

PARTIES 

2. At all relevant times herein, Plaintiff Muhammad, was a pregnant woman employed 

by NDR and a resident of Bronx County, New York.  

3. Plaintiff is an “employee” within the meaning of Executive law § 292(6) and ADA 

42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and a “person” within the meaning of Title VII 42 U.S.C. §§2000e, 

and the Administrative Code §8-102(1). 

4. Upon information and belief, NDR is a domestic company, with a principal office at 

11 Broadway, Suite 1600, New York, New York. 

5. Upon information and belief, NDR is one of the nation’s largest debt settlement 

companies, operates in all fifty states, and has over 200 employees. 

6. At all relevant times herein, Defendant NDR was an “employer” within the meaning 

of Title VII 42 U.S.C. §§2000e and ADA 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., because it had more than 15 

employees, and within the meaning of Executive Law § 292(5) and the Administrative Code § 8-

102(5) because it had more than four (4) persons in its employ.  

7. At all relevant times herein, Defendant Isidore was Plaintiff’s direct supervisor, and 

a person of authority over Plaintiff’s employment. 

8. Defendant Isidore is an “employee” within the meaning of Executive law § 292(6) 

and ADA 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and a “person” within the meaning of Title VII 42 U.S.C. 

§§2000e, and the Administrative Code §8-102(1). 

2 

 

Case 1:16-cv-08993-LTS   Document 1   Filed 11/18/16   Page 2 of 22



9. At all relevant times herein, Defendant Murry was the Director of the Human 

Resources Department at NDR, and a person of authority over Plaintiff’s employment. 

10. Defendant Murry is an “employee” within the meaning of Executive law § 292(6) and 

ADA 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and a “person” within the meaning of Title VII 42 U.S.C. 

§§2000e, and the Administrative Code §8-102(1). 

11. All of the conduct complained of occurred within the boundaries of New York City, 

County of New York, and affected Plaintiff in New York City, County of New York.  

12. Defendants John and Jane Does 1–10 are natural persons whose true names are not 

yet known to Plaintiff and are partners, shareholders, principals, employees, agents or persons 

otherwise associated with one or more of the other Defendants, or were otherwise in positions 

which enabled them to commit, or to aid and abet in the commission of, the wrongful acts against 

Plaintiff set forth herein. 

13. Defendants XYZ CORP 1–10 are additional entities, the exact true names of which 

are not yet known to Plaintiff, which are owned or operated by, affiliated with, owned and/or 

managed by or for the benefit of one or more of the other Defendants, or any combination of any 

or all of them. 

14. In committing the wrongful conduct described in this action and obtaining the benefits 

therefrom to Plaintiff’s loss, cost, damage and detriment, one or more of the Defendants acted and 

operated interchangeably as principals, agents, instrumentalities and/or alter egos  of one or more 

of them and/or each other. 

15. Each XYZ Corp. Defendant is an “employer” within the meaning of Title VII 42 

U.S.C. §§2000e, ADA 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., NYSHRL Section 292(5) and NYCHRL Section 

8-102(5) because XYZ Corp. has four (4) or more persons in its employ. 
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16. Each John and Jane Doe Defendant is an “employee” within the meaning of Executive 

law § 292(6) and ADA 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and a “person” within the meaning of Title VII 

42 U.S.C. §§2000e, and the Administrative Code §8-102(1). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction with respect to Plaintiff’s federal claims 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 & 1343, and 42 U.S.C. §§2000e et seq. 

18. The unlawful employment practices were committed in New York County, Southern 

District of New York. 

19. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction over the instant action pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1331, as this action arises under the laws of the United States. 

20. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s New York State and New 

York City claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).  The New York State and New York City 

discrimination, harassment and retaliation claims are inexorably related to, arise out of the same 

operative facts and circumstances as, and are a necessary, integral part of the federal law claims, 

such that the federal, state and city claims form part of the same case or controversy. 

21. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). 

22. All conditions precedent to filing suit have been satisfied. On March 1, 2016, Plaintiff 

filed a timely Complaint of Discrimination with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission, New York District Office (“EEOC”) [Charge No. 520-2016-02434]. On or about 

August 23, 2016, the EEOC issued Plaintiff a Right to Sue Notice. This action was filed within 90 

days of Plaintiff’s receipt of the Notice of Right to Sue. Annexed hereto as Exhibit A, and hereby 

incorporated in this Complaint by reference, is a copy of Plaintiff’s Notice of Right to Sue.  
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FACTS 

23. On or about February 23, 2015, Plaintiff started her employment with NDR as a full-

time Administrative Assistant. 

24. Before starting her employment with NDR, Plaintiff interviewed with Defendant 

Isidore, Joanne Murry, Director of Human Resources, and Elena, the front desk receptionist.  

25. However, at the time of the interview and for the first few weeks after starting her 

employment with NDR, Plaintiff was not pregnant. 

26. Plaintiff’s duties and responsibilities included, but were not limited to, scanning, 

copying and faxing clients’ documents, mailing, sending checks, returning client documents and 

other clerical duties. 

27. Plaintiff’s administrative team consisted of five members, including Plaintiff and 

Defendant Isidore.  

28. In that administrative team, there were four Administrative Assistants, which 

included Plaintiff. 

29. Plaintiff successfully completed her 90-day probation on May 23, 2015. 

30. In fact, Plaintiff received two performance evaluations during her time with NDR, 

both of which were satisfactory. 

31. Plaintiff performed her duties and responsibilities with exceptional care and diligence 

as an Administrative Assistant. 

32. As part of her responsibilities, Plaintiff also met with her supervisor, Isidore, once a 

month every month during her employment with NDR. 

33. In or around the end of March 2015, shortly after starting her employment with 

Defendants, Plaintiff became pregnant. 
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34. Subsequently, during the monthly meeting in the first week of May 2015, because 

Plaintiff was concerned about lifting the mail bins, she notified Defendant Isidore that she was 

approximately 6 weeks pregnant at that time. 

35. In response, Defendant Isidore was shocked and stated, “what the fuck, are you 

serious?” 

36. Since the moment Defendant Isidore became aware of Plaintiff’s pregnancy her 

attitude towards Plaintiff adversely changed, and she even started addressing Plaintiff with more 

aggression, frustration and obvious dislike. 

37. For example, on or about June 17, 2015, when Plaintiff requested half a day off for a 

doctor’s appointment due to her pregnancy, Defendant Isidore declined her reasonable request, 

despite Plaintiff successfully completing her probation.  

38. In fact, Defendants did not grant Plaintiff half days off for doctors’ visits, while 

allowing other non-pregnant employees, who were similarly situated and who also reported to 

Isidore, to take half days off.  

39. For example, Isidore granted requests for time off from Andrea Morris, an 

Administrative Assistant, who also reported to Isidore and who was not pregnant.  

40. Other employees from other departments and other team members, like Tabatha and 

Teshean Massiah, who were not pregnant, were allowed to take half days off. 

41. Due to the unfair and discriminatory treatment, Plaintiff was compelled to use her 

sick and personal days in order to go to her doctor’s appointments. 

42. On or about July 15, 2015, Defendant Isidore called a meeting with Plaintiff at the 

end of the work day, whereby Isidore informed Plaintiff that she had only five (5) days left to take 

off from work, which included sick days, vacation days, personal holidays and paid days off.  
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43. Plaintiff thus complained to Isidore stating that she was compelled to use all of her 

available days since Defendants prohibited her from taking half days off for doctors’ appointments, 

while allowing other non-pregnant employees to take half days off.  

44. During that same meeting on July 15, 2015, Plaintiff informed Defendant Isidore that 

she had upcoming doctors’ appointments related to her pregnancy.  

45. Defendant Isidore replied that should Plaintiff take time off for her pregnancy beyond 

the five (5) days, she will be terminated.  

46. On July 21, 2015, Plaintiff sent Defendants Isidore and Murry an email with a letter 

from Doctor Steven Hockstein, MD, informing Defendants that Plaintiff “is an obstetrical patient 

under [his] care with an expected date of delivery of December 27, 2015.” 

47. In or about August 2015, Plaintiff asked to meet with Murry, Director of the Human 

Resources Department, and Carla Perez (“Perez”), from Human Resources, to complain about the 

discriminatory actions she was subjected to by Isidore and to discuss her ability to take time off 

for her upcoming doctors’ appointments once her five (5) days were exhausted.  

48. The meeting with Murry and Perez took place on August 3, 2015 in the morning.  

49. During the meeting, Plaintiff complained to Murry and Perez that she needed to take 

time off beyond the five (5) days she had left in order to see her doctors and to receive the proper 

care for her pregnancy.  

50. Murry informed Plaintiff that she did not qualify for family medical leave, but would 

qualify for short-term disability.  

51. However, the day that Plaintiff approached Murry to apply for short-term disability, 

Murry terminated Plaintiff on that same day. 

52. It was also reiterated to Plaintiff during the August 3, 2015 meeting that she had only 
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five (5) days left to use for time off and could not take time off beyond those days despite her 

pregnancy. 

53. Murry further stated to Plaintiff that she would be entitled to take half a day off, only 

during 2 p.m. and 6 p.m., starting on August 24, 2015.  

54. However, Murry terminated Plaintiff on September 4, 2015, without giving Plaintiff 

the proper opportunity to benefit from her false promise to accommodate.  

55. Plaintiff was never provided with timely or appropriate accommodation to see her 

doctors with regard to her pregnancy or her disability. 

56. On August 25, 2015, Plaintiff exhausted all of her days off since Defendants failed 

and refused to reasonably accommodate her due to her pregnancy.  

57. On August 31, 2015, while still employed by Defendants, Plaintiff met with a 

Psychotherapist from the Metropolitan Hospital Center regarding the anxiety and emotional 

distress she was, and still is, suffering from because of the discrimination, harassment and hostility 

that she was subjected to due to her pregnancy and her requests for reasonable accommodations to 

see her doctors. 

58. On or about September 1, 2015, Plaintiff gave a copy of her Psychotherapist letter to 

Defendant Isidore and sent a copy by email to the Human Resources Department.  

59. After sending a copy of her Psychotherapist letter requesting that Defendants allow 

Plaintiff to take a medical leave of absence because of the anxiety she was suffering from, Perez 

informed Plaintiff that if she were to take any time off, she would be subject to termination. 

60. On September 4, 2015, Plaintiff met with Murry, Perez and Isidore in order to discuss 

her Psychotherapist letter and to apply for a short-term disability.  

61. However, before even discussing Plaintiff’s Psychotherapist letter and short-term 
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disability, Murry stated, “I’m surprised you’re even here;” “you are taking a lot of time off for the 

appointments;” and “we need someone more flexible.”  

62. Defendant Murry completely disregarded Plaintiff’s Psychotherapist letter and 

instead terminated her at that moment.  

63. Murry then informed Plaintiff that she would be entitled to COBRA. However, to 

date, Plaintiff has not received any COBRA package.  

64. Plaintiff was continuously subjected to harassment and discrimination due to her 

pregnancy and disability (anxiety) causing her to suffer from severe emotional distress. 

65. Despite Plaintiff’s complaints and requests for such discriminatory and harassing 

conduct to stop, Defendants refused to stop their discrimination and harassment, and failed and/or 

refused to take any action to stop or cure such actions. 

66. In addition, despite her repeated requests for reasonable accommodations, Defendants 

failed to accommodate Plaintiff. 

67. Due to the stress and anxiety caused by Defendants’ discriminatory, harassing and 

retaliatory actions, Plaintiff suffered and continues to suffer from severe emotional distress.  

AS AND FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination based on Pregnancy in Violation of 

Title VII, 42 U.S.C. §§2000e et seq. against  

Defendant National Debt Relief, LLC 

 

68. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

69. Defendants violated Title VII, 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et seq. by engaging in, perpetuating 

and permitting supervisory and decision making managers and employees to engage in 

discriminatory employment practices in which Plaintiff’s pregnancy was the motivating, if not the 

only factor. 
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70. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

71. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

72. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination based on Pregnancy in Violation of the 

Pregnancy Discrimination Act, 42 U.S.C. §2000e(k) against  

Defendant National Debt Relief, LLC 

 

73. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

74. Defendants violated the Pregnancy Discrimination Act, 42 U.S.C. §2000e(k) by 

engaging in, perpetuating and permitting supervisory and decision making managers and 

employees to engage in discriminatory employment practices in which Plaintiff’s pregnancy was 

the motivating, if not the only factor. 

75. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

76. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

77. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 
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foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination Based on Pregnancy in Violation of the 

Executive Law § 296, et seq. against All Defendants 

 

78. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

79. Defendants violated Executive Law §296, et seq. by engaging in, perpetuating and 

permitting supervisory and decision making employees to engage in discriminatory employment 

practices in which Plaintiff’s pregnancy was the motivating, if not the only factor. 

80. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

81. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

82. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination Based on Pregnancy in Violation of the 

Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq. against All Defendants 

 

83. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

84. Defendants violated Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq. by engaging in, 

perpetuating and permitting supervisory and decision making employees to engage in 

discriminatory employment practices in which Plaintiff’s race was the motivating, if not the only 
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factor. 

85. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

86. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

87. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination based on Disability in Violation of 

ADA 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. against  

Defendant National Debt Relief, LLC 

 

88. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

89. Defendants violated ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., by engaging in, perpetuating 

and permitting supervisory and decision making managers and employees to engage in 

discriminatory employment practices in which Plaintiff’s disability (anxiety) was the motivating, 

if not the only factor. 

90. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

91. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  
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92. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination Based on Disability in Violation of the 

Executive Law § 296, et seq. against All Defendants 

 

93. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

94. Defendants violated Executive Law §296, et seq. by engaging in, perpetuating and 

permitting supervisory and decision making employees to engage in discriminatory employment 

practices in which Plaintiff’s disability (anxiety) was the motivating, if not the only factor. 

95. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

96. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

97. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Discrimination Based on Disability in Violation of the 

Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq. against All Defendants 

 

98. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

99. Defendants violated Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq. by engaging in, 

perpetuating and permitting supervisory and decision making employees to engage in 
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discriminatory employment practices in which Plaintiff’s disability (anxiety) was the motivating, 

if not the only factor. 

100. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

101. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

102. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR AN EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Retaliation in Violation of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq.  

against Defendant National Debt Relief, LLC  

 

103. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

104. Defendants violated Title VII, 42 U.S.C. §2000e, et seq. by engaging in, perpetuating 

and permitting supervisory and decision making employees to engage in retaliatory actions against 

Plaintiff for engaging in protected activities, when complaining of the discriminatory, harassing 

and disparate treatment she was subjected to by Defendants.  

105. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

106. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 
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such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

107. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Retaliation in Violation of the Executive Law § 296, et seq.  

against All Defendants 

 

108. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

109. Defendants violated Executive Law §296, et seq. by engaging in, perpetuating and 

permitting supervisory and decision making employees to engage in retaliatory actions against 

Plaintiff for engaging in protected activities, when complaining of the discriminatory, harassing 

and disparate treatment she was subjected to by Defendants.  

110. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

111. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly discriminatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages.  

112. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Retaliation in Violation of the Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq.  

against All Defendants 

 

113. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 
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114. Defendants violated Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq. by engaging in, 

perpetuating and permitting supervisory and decision making employees to engage in retaliatory 

actions against Plaintiff for engaging in protected activities, when complaining of the 

discriminatory, harassing and disparate treatment he was subjected to by Defendants. 

115. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

116. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly retaliatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages. 

117. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR AN ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Provide a Reasonable Accommodation in Violation of  

ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. against  

Defendant National Debt Relief, LLC 

 

118. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat. 

119. Defendants violated the ADA, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., by engaging in, 

perpetuating and permitting supervisory and decision making managers and employees to deny 

Plaintiff reasonable accommodations to take time off to seek necessary treatment and care from 

her doctors for her pregnancy and disability. 

120. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 
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aforementioned violations. 

121. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly retaliatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages. 

122. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

AS AND FOR A TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Provide a Reasonable Accommodation in Violation of the  

Executive Law § 296, et seq. against All Defendants 

 

123. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat.  

124. Defendants violated the Executive Law §296, et seq. by engaging in, perpetuating and 

permitting supervisory and decision making managers and employees to deny Plaintiff reasonable 

accommodations to take time off to seek necessary treatment and care from her doctors for her 

pregnancy and disability. 

125. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

126. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly retaliatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages. 

127. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 
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AS AND FOR A THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Failure to Provide a Reasonable Accommodation in Violation of the  

Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq. against All Defendants 

 

128. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained herein above with 

the same force and effect as if fully stated hereat.  

129. Defendants violated the Administrative Code § 8-107, et seq. by engaging in, 

perpetuating and permitting supervisory and decision making managers and employees to deny 

Plaintiff reasonable accommodations to take time off to seek necessary treatment and care from 

her doctors for her pregnancy and disability. 

130. As a result of Defendants’ aforementioned conduct, Plaintiff has suffered, and 

continues to suffer, loss of past and future wages and benefits, mental anguish, severe emotional 

distress, loss of enjoyment of life, and other monetary damages connected with Defendants’ 

aforementioned violations. 

131. As a result of the outrageous and blatantly retaliatory conduct of Defendants, with 

such conduct that contravenes public policies and statutes, Plaintiff is entitled to punitive damages. 

132. Plaintiff continues to suffer and to incur additional damages by reason of the 

foregoing. 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff demands a trial 

by jury on all questions of fact raised by this Complaint. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff, Lexus Muhammad, respectfully demands the following relief:   

A. award Plaintiff full compensation damages under the Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (“ADA”), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 

1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§2000e et seq. (“Title VII”), the Pregnancy Discrimination Act, 42 

U.S.C. §2000e(k) (“PDA”), the Executive Law of the State of New York, New York State Human 

Rights Law (“Executive Law”), § 296, et seq., and the Administrative Code of the City of New 

York, New York City Human Rights Law (“Administrative Code”), § 8-101, et seq.; 

B. award full liquidated and punitive damages as allowed under the Americans 

with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (“ADA”), Title VII of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§2000e et seq. (“Title VII”), the Pregnancy Discrimination 

Act, 42 U.S.C. §2000e(k) (“PDA”), the Executive Law of the State of New York, New York State 

Human Rights Law (“Executive Law”), § 296, et seq., and the Administrative Code of the City of 

New York, New York City Human Rights Law (“Administrative Code”), § 8-101, et seq.; 

C. award pre-judgment and post-judgment interests; 

D. award Plaintiff an amount to be determined at trial of lost compensation, 

back-pay, front-pay, bonuses, raises, emotional distress damages, and additional amounts such as 

liquidated damages; 

E. award Plaintiff such compensatory, prospective, exemplary and punitive 

damages as this Court deems appropriate, just and proper; 

F. award Plaintiff the cost of prosecuting this action and for reasonable 

attorneys’ fees under the aforementioned statutes and 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

G. such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 
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Dated: New York, New York 

 November 18, 2016 

 

     Respectfully Submitted, 

 

     LAW OFFICE OF RUDY A. DERMESROPIAN, LLC 

 

     By: ___/s/ Rudy A. Dermesropian________ 

      Rudy A. Dermesropian (RD 8117) 

      45 Broadway, Suite 1420 

      New York, NY 10006 

      Telephone: (646) 586-9030 

      Fax: (646) 586-9005 

 

    Attorneys for Plaintiff Lexus Muhammad 
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EEOC Form 161 (11109) U.S. EQUAL EM PLOYM ENTOPPORTUNITYCOM M ISSION

DISM ISSAL AND NOTICE OF RIGHTS

To: Lexus M uham m ad

923 Avenue Saint John, Apt. 1 A

Bronx, NY 10455

From : New York D istrict O ffice

33 W hitehall S treet

5th Floor

New York, NY 10004

D RQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAO n b e h a lf o f p e rs o n (s ) a g g r ie v e d w h o s e id e n t ity is

C O N F ID E N T IA L (29 C F R § 1 6 0 1 . to»

EEOC Charge No. EEOC Representative Telephone No.

Orfelino Genao,

520-2016-02434 Investigator (212) 336-3642

THE EEOC IS CLOSING ITS FILE ON THIS CHARGE FOR THE FOLLOW ING REASON:

D

D

D

D

The facts alleged in the charge fail to state a claim under any of the statutes enforced by the EEOC.

Your allegations did not involve a disability as defined by the Am ericans W ith D isabilities Act.

The Respondent em ploys less than the required num ber of em ployees or is not otherw ise covered by the statutes.

Your charge was not tim ely filed w ith EEOC; in other words, you waited too long after the date(s) of the alleged

discrim ination to file your charge

The EEOC issues the follow ing determ lnatton: Based upon its investigation, the EEOC is unable to conclude that the

inform ation obtained establishes violations of the statutes. This does not certify that the respondent is in com pliance w ith

the statutes. No finding is m ade as to any other issues that m ight be construed as having been raised by this charge.

D The EEOC has adopted the findings of the state or local fair em ploym ent practices agency that investigated this charge.

D Other (b r ie f ly s ta te )

• NOTICE OF SUIT RIGHTS·
(See th e a d d it io n a l in fo rm a t io n a tta c h e d to th is fo rm .)

Title VII, the Am ericans w ith D isabilities Ac:t, the Genetic Inform ation Nondiscrim ination Act, or the Age

Discrim ination in Em ploym ent Act: This w ill be the only notice of dism issal and of your right to sue that we will send you.

You m ay file a lawsuit against the respondent{s) under federal law based on this charge in federal or state court. Your

lawsuit m ust be filed W ITHIN 90 DAYS of yC lur receipt of this notice; or your right to sue based on this charge w ill be

lost. (The tim e lim it for filing suit based on a claim under state law m ay be different.)

Equal Pay Act (EPA): EPA suits m ust be filed in federal or state court w ithin 2 years (3 years for w illfu l violations) of the

alleged EPA underpaym ent. This m eans that backpay due for any violations that occurred m ore than 2 years (3 years)

before you file suit m ay not be collectib le.

Enclosures(s) (D a te M a ile d )

cc:
Joanne M urry

D irector of Hum an Resources

NATIONAL DEBT RELIEF LLC

11 Broadway, 16th FI

16th Floor

New York, NY 10004
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